THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

OCT 24 2017

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

WCC File No. 1012533
Appellate Case No. 2017-001764

Chisolm Frampton, Employee, Appellant,

v.

S.C. Department of Natural Resources, Employer,
and S.C. State Accident Fund, Carrier, Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

John C. Land, III # 3118
LAND PARKER & WELCH
P.O. Box 138
Manning, SC 29102
(803) 435-8894
(803) 233-6591 (facsimile)
pat@lpwlawfirm.com

Blake A. Hewitt # 73674
BLUESTEIN THOMPSON SULLIVAN
P.O. Box 7965
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 779-7599
(803) 779-8995 (facsimile)
blake@bluesteinattorneys.com

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the Workers' Compensation Commission's appellate panel erroneously required Chisolm Frampton to prove a compensable injury to his spine after liability had been admitted, when there was no appeal of the finding that liability had been admitted, and when the alleged defense to liability was not properly raised.
- II. Whether the single commissioner erroneously used Frampton's post-injury return to work and his subsequent promotions as factors in estimating the percentage of Frampton's impairment.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Beginning Summary

This case is about what it means when an employer and its insurance carrier admit an employee suffered a compensable injury, how to properly allege defenses to a workers' compensation claim, and whether it is permissible to use an injured worker's return to work in arriving at the numerical estimation of that person's disability.

Chisolm Frampton is a long-time employee of the Department of Natural Resources. He injured his neck in September of 2010 while riding in a truck across a rough dove field in pursuit of people who appeared to leave the field hastily when they saw law enforcement. (7/15/15 Tr.p.15, lines 9-23). He went to the doctor three days after the event, was diagnosed with cervical and trapezius strains, given medications, and released to work. (APA pp.1-2).

Several months later—in March of 2011—Frampton was evaluated by a neurosurgeon who recommended and performed surgery, fusing two of Frampton's vertebra together. The parties dispute certain facts surrounding this treatment. Frampton testified he was sent to the neurosurgeon by workers' compensation and that workers' compensation paid for his surgery. (Id.p.18, lines 6-14; p.22, lines 6-8). Respondents countered—and nobody

contests—that the neurosurgeon’s notes do not reference a work-related injury and that some of the records from the March visit and surgery list Frampton’s health insurance, not workers’ compensation. (APA pp.9-11, 38-39, 43, 45). Respondents also noted Frampton had seen this same neurosurgeon about six months before his injury in the dove field, complaining of numbness and tingling in his arm. (Def.Ex.B). Frampton was prescribed medication and physical therapy. *Id.*

Nobody disputes certain particulars of what happened after Frampton had surgery. Three months later—in June of 2011—Frampton was involved in motor vehicle accident while driving home from a work-related conference in Florida. (7/15/15 Tr.p.22, line 12 - p.23 line 14). He went to the doctor about a week later complaining of neck pain and was referred to the same neurosurgeon who had performed his fusion. (APA p.5). His diagnosis was “acute neck pain - reactivation of prior injury.” *Id.*

Frampton had periodic appointments with the neurosurgeon from 2011 to 2014 following a regimen consisting of medication, anti-inflammatory injections, and physical therapy. See (APA pp.12, 13, 14, 15, 18, and 22). Workers’ compensation appears to have paid for all of these visits except the last one. (*Id.*pp.47, 49, 51, 53, and 59).

Frampton filed a hearing request with the Workers’ Compensation Commission in November of 2014 alleging injuries to his neck and right arm. (Form 50).

Respondents filed an answer to the hearing request, admitting Frampton sustained an injury. (Form 51, ¶1). Respondents admitted “an injury to the cervical spine only,” denied the extent of the spinal injury, and denied all other body parts. *Id.* Respondents noted they were continuing to provide treatment for the June 2011 motor vehicle accident. (*Id.*, ¶6).

B. Summary of the Relevant Arguments

Frampton contended he was permanently and totally disabled because he had lost more than 50% of the use of his back. Frampton's pre-hearing brief listed this issue as the key fact in controversy. (Cl. Form 58, ¶4). He readily admitted he had missed no significant time from work, he said he wanted to continue working, and he said he believed he was capable of working. (7/15/15 Tr.p.52, line 22 - p.54, line 14). The argument for permanent and total disability was that even though he was actively working the law deemed him permanently and totally disabled due to the extent of his injury. (Id.p.62, lines 5-7).

Respondents filed a pre-hearing brief denying Frampton was permanently and totally disabled, raising a number of issues as "facts in controversy" and "legal issues involved." (Defs. Form 58). Respondents alleged Frampton's 2011 motor vehicle accident occurred while he was "on vacation" and was an "intervening accident." *Id.* Respondents also alleged the incident in the dove field caused a "non-disabling neck injury" and that Frampton could not be permanently and totally disabled because he was currently working full-time. *Id.*

A single commissioner conducted a hearing in July of 2015. Frampton was the only witness. (7/15/15 Tr.pp.1-66).

At the hearing Respondents argued Frampton had the burden of proving the dove field incident had aggravated the pre-existing problems for which Frampton had visited the neurosurgeon in March of 2010. (Id.p.9, lines 4 - 14). Respondents also argued Frampton might have experienced an intervening neck injury in November of 2010. (Id.p.9, lines 20-23). After Respondents explained they were questioning whether Frampton got hurt, Frampton explained the claim had been accepted. (Id.p.61, line 2 - p.63, line 7).

C. Summary of the Relevant Rulings Below

The single commissioner declined to find permanent and total disability but issued an award finding as a fact that Frampton has sustained a 20% permanent disability to his back. (10/3/16 Or.pp.9-10, ¶19). The single commissioner considered the fact that Frampton was working full time and had been promoted after his injury in arriving at this estimation of Frampton's disability to his back. *Id.*

With respect to burden of proof, the single commissioner found there was no medical evidence stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that the dove field incident had aggravated Frampton's pre-existing condition, but the single commissioner also found Respondents had "admitted the claim and provided medical treatment." (Id.p.7, ¶7). A conclusion of law contained similar language with respect to burden of proof. (Id.p.11, ¶2). This conclusion omitted mention of the claim being admitted. *Id.*

Both sides asked the appellate panel to review the single commissioner's decision.

Frampton argued the single commissioner's finding of only a 20% impairment to the back was inconsistent with the medical evidence, noting Frampton had undergone a cervical fusion and that the claim was admitted. (Clmt. 12/19/16 Br.p.2). He also argued the single commissioner erred in considering his return to work and his post-injury promotions in arriving at the estimated percentage Frampton's back impairment. (Id.p.3).

Respondents argued no award was appropriate. Their case for the award's outright reversal included a claim that any award of benefits was barred by the single commissioner's finding and conclusion that Frampton did not prove the dove field incident aggravated his pre-existing condition. (Resp. 12/22/16 Br.pp.5-6).

The appellate panel heard the cross-appeals in March of 2017 and issued an order the following July reversing the single commissioner's award of benefits. The appellate panel's analysis appears on pages 12, 13, and 14 of the order. (7/24/17 Or.pp.12-14). The order recites the single commissioner's conclusion of law regarding the burden of proof, notes that Frampton did not appeal this conclusion of law, deems this conclusion the "law of the case," and holds that there cannot be an award if Frampton did not meet his burden of proof. *Id.*

ARGUMENT

There are two reasons this Court should reverse.

First, Frampton did not have to prove aggravation of a pre-existing condition. Liability for an injury to the "cervical spine" was admitted. The single commissioner noted liability was admitted in the very same finding of fact discussing burden of proof. This makes the finding of the claim's admission the law of the case. The commission's use of the aggravation statute is inconsistent with the claim's admission and it is worth nothing that the aggravation statute was not presented as a defense. If Respondents were contesting whether Frampton was genuinely hurt, their answer to Frampton's claim shouldn't have said "admitted"—it should have said "denied."

Second, the single commissioner erroneously used Mr. Frampton's post-injury return to work and his subsequent promotions in estimating the percentage of his impairment. This evidence—commonly called "wage loss" evidence—would be relevant to whether Frampton was permanently and totally disabled, but it has nothing to do with whether his spine is impaired and the degree of that impairment.

Both of these reasons are errors of law. This Court should reverse.

I. The appellate panel erroneously required Frampton to prove a compensable injury to his back/spine.

The Court should reverse the appellate panel’s denial of this claim because the pertinent part of the claim—the injury to the back/spine—was admitted. Respondents admitted the claim in their answer, Respondents did not appeal the single commissioner’s finding that the claim was admitted, and the statute the commission used to reverse the single commissioner was not raised as a defense.

a. Respondents’ answer admitted a compensable claim.

The parties in a workers’ compensation case are required to file pleading-type documents with the commission. An injured worker begins a case by filing an “Employee’s Notice of Claim and/or Request for Hearing,” commonly called a “Form 50.” A statute requires an injured worker to specify his or her injuries on this form and explains the limited circumstances under which the commission may award compensation for injuries that are not listed on this form. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-700 (2015). A similar statute binds the employer to the content of its answer—the “Form 51”—unless certain exceptions are satisfied. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-705 (2015). The Supreme Court’s decision in *Chapman v. Foremost Dairies* explains this process is less formal than the pleading process in circuit court but serves the same function. 249 S.C. 438, 452, 154 S.E.2d 845, 852 (1967).

Frampton’s Form 50 alleged an injury to his neck and right arm. (Form 50, ¶1). He alleged it occurred in September of 2010 while riding in a pickup truck through a rough dove field and he listed the practitioners who had treated him as a result of this injury. (*Id.*, ¶¶2, 11a). Respondents’ Form 51 admitted Frampton sustained an injury on or about the date he

alleged, explaining they “admit an injury to the cervical spine only.” (Form 51, ¶ 1). Respondents explained they denied the “extent of the injury and all other body parts.” *Id.*

Admissions acknowledge that alleged facts are true. Respondents’ admission of a back injury is an acknowledgment that they agree Frampton injured his spine and they agree it occurred while riding through a rough field. Those were Frampton’s specific allegations. If Respondents disagreed with them, they would have said so.

The use of the word “admit” has additional significance given the context. A neurosurgeon had been monitoring Frampton for several years and Respondents paid for almost all of this. The first medical record documenting Frampton’s 2011 motor vehicle accident deemed it a “reactivation of a prior injury.” (APA p.5). The neurosurgeon also completed an original and an amended “physician’s statement,” a workers’ compensation form describing his assessment of Frampton’s “work related injury.” (APA pp.21, 26). All of this occurred *before* Frampton filed his Form 50 and before Respondents filed a Form 51 admitting an injury to Frampton’s cervical spine. When read in the light of this history, Respondents’ filing signaled the disputes at the hearing would be the extent to which Frampton’s back was disabled and whether his arms were affected.

An injury’s admission has particular importance in a workers’ compensation case because it acknowledges the injury is significant, not trivial. A disability has to last for more than 14 days in order to merit any award. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-200 (2015). If an injury does not cause such a disability, the claim is limited to medical care for no more than ten weeks from the date of the injury “and for such additional time as . . . will tend to lessen the degree of disability[.]” S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60(A) (2015).

When Respondents' Form 51 admitted there was a back injury, Respondents were necessarily admitting there was some disability warranting the existence of an actual claim. If this was not Respondents' intention, the Form 51 would have said "denied."

A party does not have the burden of proving an admitted case. Litigants are bound by their admissions. *Scott v. Greenville Hous. Auth.*, 353 S.C. 639, 579 S.E.2d 151 (Ct. App. 2003) (discussing requests to admit and admissions in pleadings). A court could not require evidence on duty of care, breach of that duty, or causation if liability in a negligence action was admitted. The trial in such instance would be limited to damages. Respondents' admission recognized Frampton had a disability warranting a workers' compensation claim. If Respondents believed this injury was nothing more than a superficial muscle sprain, they would not have paid for multiple visits with a neurosurgeon and they would not have admitted the claim.

b. The single commissioner found the claim was admitted and that finding was not appealed.

Parties are required to list their grounds for appeal with specificity when asking the commission's appellate panel to review a single commissioner's decision. This requirement is currently imposed by regulation, see S.C. Code Ann. Reg. 67-701(A)(3) (Supp. ____), but it has been a fixture of South Carolina's workers' compensation law for decades. *Jones v. Anderson Cotton Mills*, 205 S.C. 247, ___, 31 S.E.2d 447, 450 (1944) (discussing a prior version of the same requirement).

Any part of a single commissioner's decision that is not covered by an appealing party's "exceptions" is deemed the law of the case and may not be altered by the appellate

panel. *Hilton v. Flakeboard* is a recent case articulating this principle. 418 S.C. 245, 249-250, 791 S.E.2d 719, 721-722 (2016). The Supreme Court's decision in *Ham v. Mullins Lumber Co.* contains an early and forceful application of the rule, rejecting the argument that any exception to the single commissioner's decision reopens the entire case for review. 193 S.C. 66, ___, 7 S.E.2d 712, 715-16 (1940).

The appellate panel based its reversal of Frampton's award on the single commissioner's conclusion of law #2 in which the single commissioner found Frampton did not meet his burden of proving the dove field incident aggravated his pre-existing condition. (7/24/17 Or.pp.12-14). The panel deemed this conclusion the law of the case and held any award of benefits required Frampton to meet this burden of proof. *Id.*

This was a misapplication of the law of the case doctrine. Just as Frampton did not appeal that conclusion of law, Respondents did not appeal the single commissioner's finding of fact that the claim was admitted. The single commissioner found Frampton did not present medical evidence that the dove field incident aggravated any pre-existing condition, but in the very same finding, the single commissioner explained "[n]evertheless, Defendants admitted the claim and provided medical treatment." (10/3/16 Or.p.7). Respondents never took exception to this finding. The appellate panel's order recites the six grounds on which Respondents appealed to the panel. (7/27/17 Or.p.9). None of those grounds charged the single commissioner with error in finding the claim was admitted.

The reason why Frampton did not appeal the single commissioner's finding or conclusion about burden of proof is obvious. A party must be aggrieved by a judgment in order to appeal. The single commissioner's judgment awarded Frampton benefits, it did not

bar them. Frampton appealed the portions of the single commissioner’s decision that he believed inadequately estimated the impairment to his spine. He did not appeal—and had no reason to appeal—findings that were not relevant to that issue, including the finding that the claim had been admitted.

The “aggrieved party” requirement finds expression in statutory law as well as in court rules. S.C. Code Ann. § 18-1-30 (Supp. ____); Rule 201(b), SCACR. There is no reason to think a different rule applies to administrative proceedings.

The single commissioner found as a fact that Frampton’s neck claim was admitted. Respondents did not appeal the finding, making the neck claim’s admission the law of the case. The appellate panel’s decision conspicuously ignored the single commissioner’s language about Respondents’ admission. It included the admission language when block-quoting all of the single commissioner’s findings and conclusions, see (7/24/17, pp.2-8), but it omitted the language in its statement of the case and in its analysis. (Id.pp.2, 12). This was error. The single commissioner found the claim was admitted. When this finding was not appealed it became the law of the case.

c. The statute the appellate panel used to reverse the award was not properly raised as an issue or defense.

As the first section of this brief noted, a statute requires an employer to describe its defenses to a workers’ compensation claim “with as much specificity as possible.” See § 42-1-705(A). Subsection (B) of the statute explains the commission may consider a defense if it was not listed on the Form 51, but it must be proven to the commissioner that the defendants had no knowledge of the facts supporting the defense when they completed the

Form 51. The defense must also be set forth on the defendants' pre-hearing brief. *Id.* These requirements provide simple procedures allowing "the principle issues to be framed before a hearing is commenced." *Chapman*, 249 S.C. at 443, 154 S.E.2d at 852.

The appellate panel's decision and the single commissioner's finding about burden of proof were driven by the statute requiring medical evidence to prove aggravation of a pre-existing condition. This statute—S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-35 (2015)—was not referenced anywhere on Respondents' Form 51 and it was not referenced anywhere on Respondents' pre-hearing brief. (Form 51); (Defs' Form 58).

The statute's omission from the pre-hearing brief is noteworthy because unlike the Form 51's advertisement that the claim was admitted, the pre-hearing brief advertised a number of things that were inconsistent with admission. The pre-hearing brief indicated Respondents would be contending Frampton's motor vehicle accident was an "intervening accident" that "aggravated his work-related neck injury." (Defs' Form 58). The brief also indicated Respondents would be claiming Frampton did not need any additional medical care and that Frampton's neck injury was non-disabling because he has been working full duty and without restrictions since June of 2011. *Id.* Respondents specifically listed all of these arguments, yet Respondents never mentioned section 42-9-35, Respondents never indicated they would be claiming Frampton had a pre-existing condition, and Respondents never said anything about proving a pre-existing condition had been aggravated. This argument was barred from consideration.

The prior sections of this brief focused on this claim's admission because an admission is different from a denial, even a general denial which gives no indication of what

the defenses to a claim will be. A party does not approach a trial believing he must prove an admitted case. Respondents' claim of a trivial injury is inconsistent with their admission.

The argument in this section is based on notice. Apart from the question whether the claim was admitted, Frampton might have provided medical testimony that the dove field incident aggravated his pre-existing condition if he had known this would be an issue. As his lawyer told the appellate panel, there were no reservations as to liability in the Form 51. (3/21/17 Tr.p.19). Frampton would have set out to prove liability if it had been denied.

This case is most like the circumstances that were present in *Chapman v. Foremost Dairies*. There, the employer's filing with the commissioner indicated it did not believe the claimant sustained an accident arising out of and during the course of employment. 249 S.C. at 450, 154 S.E.2d at 851. At the hearing, however, the employer raised the defenses of notice and the statute of limitations. The commission barred these from consideration and that decision was affirmed. The court explained "[i]f an employer has . . . grounds for denying liability for compensation[] there is no sound reason why it should not be required to advise the Commission . . . as to the substantive grounds on which liability is denied." *Id.* at 452, 154 S.E.2d at 852. The same failure was present here. None of Respondent's filings with the commission signaled they would be contending Frampton had a pre-existing condition and that the dove field did not aggravate such condition.

II. The single commissioner erroneously used Frampton's post-injury return to work and his subsequent promotions in estimating the percentage of his impairment.

The single commissioner erroneously used Mr. Frampton's post-injury return to work and his subsequent promotions in estimating the percentage of his impairment. This

evidence—commonly called “wage loss” evidence—would be relevant to whether Frampton was permanently and totally disabled, but it has nothing to do with whether his spine is impaired and the degree of that impairment.

a. Frampton’s argument for total disability relied on the degree of injury to his back. “Wage loss” evidence is not relevant to that determination.

As this Court is aware, South Carolina’s workers’ compensation law contains two models of compensating for the loss in earning capacity caused by a work-related injury. The “medical model” uses disability awards based on the degree of medical impairment to specified body parts. *Wigfall v. Tideland Utilities*, 354 S.C. 100, 104, 580 S.E.2d 100, 102 (2003). The “economic model,” relies on the evidence of reduction in the injured worker’s earnings. *Id.* at 104, 580 S.E.2d at 102.

Both models are focused on compensating a claimant for the injury a disability causes to the claimant’s earning capacity. The difference is in how the models go about this function. The medical model is based on the legislature’s conclusive presumption about the effects certain injuries have on earning capacity. *Id.* at 107, 580 S.E.2d at 103. The economic model allows the injured worker to prove the wage loss the injury has caused.

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