THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
T. Scott Beck, Commissioner

RECEIVED

FEB 28 2018

SC Court of Appeals

W.C.C. 1012533
Appellate Case No. 2017-001764

Chisolm Frampton, Employee, Appellant,

v.

S.C. Department of Natural Resources, Employer,
and S.C. State Accident Fund, Carrier, Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENTS

Kirsten Leslie Barr
SC Bar #15525
Trask & Howell, L.L.C.
P.O. Box 2167
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29465
(843) 881-4228
Attorneys for Respondents

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

Arguments

I. At no time did the Respondents admit liability for any benefits under the Workers' Compensation Act.

The Appellant inexplicably argues that “liability was admitted” by the Respondents and that this “fact” is the law of the case.¹ This argument is wholly without merit. While the Respondents did admit that the Appellant sustained an accident involving his cervical spine on its Form 51, the Respondents specifically denied liability for any workers' compensation benefits. (R. p.32). Not only did the Respondents specifically deny the extent of the injury, the Respondents specifically denied that the Appellant was entitled to any medical or compensation benefits.² (R. p.32). Similarly, on their Form 58, Pre-Hearing Brief, the Respondents denied the Appellant was entitled to any benefits under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60 or § 42-9-30. (R. p.39). See Hartzell v.

¹ The Appellant also misstates the Hearing Commissioner's finding, suggesting that the Hearing Commissioner found that “liability was admitted.” This is incorrect. The Hearing Commissioner noted only that the Respondents “admitted the claim,” *i.e.*, admitted that the claim met the requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160. (R.p.7 #7).

² The Appellant has a heightened burden of proof under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60, which requires him to prove his entitlement to medical benefits with expert medical evidence stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty. Hartzell v. Palmetto Collision, 415 S.C. 617, 785 S.E.2d 194 (Ct. App. 2016). However, the Appellant has abandoned his claim for medical benefits on appeal and presently makes no argument that he is entitled to benefits under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60. (R. p.41, pp.44-46, pp.60—62).

Palmetto Collision, 415 S.C. 617, 785 S.E.2d 194 (Ct. App. 2016) (holding that “the General Assembly has placed the burden upon the claimant to prove entitlement to worker's compensation benefits.”) (internal citations omitted). At no time did the Respondents admit liability for any benefits under the Act. (R. p.32, pp.37–39, p.70, line 20–p.74, line 2).

Simply because the Respondents admitted the existence of an injury under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160, the Appellant is not absolved of his burden of proving his entitlement to benefits under the Workers’ Compensation Act. Instead, the burden is upon the Appellant to prove by a preponderance of evidence that he is entitled to the benefits he claims under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-30³, (scheduled compensation benefits). *See Fields v. Owens Corning Fiberglass*, 301 S.C. 554, 393 S.E.2d 172 (1990) (holding that an “award under the scheduled loss statute, however, is premised upon the threshold requirement that the claimant prove a loss, or loss of use of, a specific ‘member, organ, or part of the body.’”).

Not only must the Appellant prove he has a permanent loss of use of his back, but he must also prove that alleged loss is causally-related to the dove field incident on September 4, 2010. Here, the Respondents, in their Form 58, denied that any loss of use of the back was causally-related to the dove field incident. (R. pp.37–39). Again, the burden was upon the Appellant to prove, with actual evidence, that his alleged loss of use was casually-related before he can properly be awarded benefits under S.C. Code

³ Note that the Appellant has abandoned his claims to benefits under any other provision of the Workers’ Compensation Act. (R. p.41, pp.44-46, pp.60–62).

Ann. § 42-9-30. Bundrick v. Powell's Garage, 248 S.C. 496, 151 S.E.2d 437 (1966) (holding that an award of benefits under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-30 must be founded on evidence of sufficient substance and not mere surmise, conjecture, or speculation). The Respondents' admission under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160 is neither an admission that the Appellant has either permanent loss of use of his back, nor an admission that any such permanent loss of use is causally-related to the work accident. As such, the Appellants allegations regarding the Respondents' admission is neither factually accurate, nor legally relevant.

II. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-35 is a mandatory, statutory pre-requisite to compensation benefits when there is a pre-existing condition, not an affirmative defense.

In addition to the Appellant's burden of proof under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-30, the Appellant is subject to an additional, mandatory burden of proof under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-35. Section 42-9-35 governs "Compensation and Payment Thereof" (the chapter title) when there is "Evidence of pre-existing injury or condition" (the code section title). This statute clearly, and unequivocally, requires

"(A) The employee shall establish by a preponderance of the evidence, including the medical evidence that: (1) the subsequent injury aggravated the pre-existing condition..."

Simply because the Respondents admitted that the Appellant's claim met the requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160, the Appellant's burden of proof under S.C.

Code Ann. § 42-9-35 is not eliminated, as these are separate statutes governing separate issues. At no time did the Respondents concede that the requirement of § 42-9-35 had been met.

More importantly, the Appellant attempted to conceal the fact of his pre-existing condition from the Respondents, who were unaware of his prior diagnosis and treatment for neck problems at the time the Forms 50 and 58 were filed. Not only did the Appellant deny the very existence of his pre-existing condition on his Form 50, he claimed that he did not “recall” seeking treatment for his pre-existing condition when testifying before the Hearing Commissioner. (R. p.31, p.80, lines 20–24, p.81, lines 4–8). This led to the Appellant being impeached (R. p.95, line 25–p.99, line 5; p.104, line 18–p.109, line 1) with his prior medical records (R. pp.243–246), which were received by the Respondents on the eve of the hearing, and the Hearing Commissioner’s (unappealed) finding that

“I did not find [Appellant’s] testimony to be very credible with regard to the extent of his pre-existing neck condition...” (R. p.9 # 15).

Furthermore, § 42-9-35 is not, as the Appellant suggests, an affirmative defense. The very face of the statute makes it plain that the only burden is placed squarely upon the Appellant – “[t]he employee shall establish” – and no affirmative obligation is placed upon the Respondents. Of course, the use of the term “shall” indicates that the Appellant’s burden of proof under § 42-9-35 is mandatory. See Collins v. Doe, 352 S.C. 462, 470, 574 S.E.2d 739, 743 (2002) (“under the rules of statutory interpretation, use of the words ‘shall’ or ‘must’ indicates the legislature’s intent to enact a mandatory

requirement.”). In addition, “[t]he difficulty in proving a fact compensation case does not relieve the party on whom the burden rests of proving it, and does not shift the burden to the other party.” Lorick v. S.C.E.&G., 245 S.C. 513, 524, 141 S.E.2d 662, 668 (1965) (internal citations omitted).

Lastly, the Appellant’s argument that he was somehow unaware that he was required to meet his burden of proof under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-35, as a pre-requisite to an award of compensation benefits, is specious. Of course, it is a well-established principle “that ignorance of the law is no excuse.” State v. Binnarr, 400 S.C. 156, 160 n.7, 733 S.E.2d 890, 892 n.7 (2012). Furthermore, the Respondents did not receive the Appellant’s prior medical records, detailing the extent of his pre-existing injury and treatment, until the eve of the hearing. At the call of the hearing on July 15, 2015, a pre-hearing conference was held with the Hearing Commissioner, at which time the Respondents clearly raised the Appellant’s burden of proof under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-35. (R. p.71, lines 4–19). The Appellant did not object to this issue being raised at the hearing, nor did the Appellant seek an adjournment or postponement to obtain the necessary proof. (R. p.97, lines 13–14; p.99, lines 1–2). Thereafter, the Hearing Commissioner specifically ruled on S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-35 and the Appellant did not appeal, making her ruling as to his failure to meet the requirements of this mandatory statute the law of the case.

III. The Commission’s conclusion that the Appellant failed to meet his burden of proof under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-35 is the law of the case and cannot be disturbed on appeal.

Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-35, the Hearing Commissioner entered the following conclusion of law:

“The [Appellant] did not meet his burden of proof under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-35. The record is clear that he has a history of cervical radiculopathy that predates the September 4, 2010 accident and there is no competent medical evidence that the September 4, 2010 accident aggravated that pre-existing condition. In fact, the records of the [Appellant’s] treating physician, Dr. Bailey, make no mention of any work-related accident or injury on or about September 4, 2010 and the [Appellant’s] own statement to Dr. Bailey indicate that his neck problems began in January 2010.” (R. p.11 #2).

The Appellant’s Form 30, Request for Commission Review, makes no mention of this legal conclusion and raised no argument with regard to the application of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-35 in his brief to the Commission’s Appellate Panel. (R. p.41, pp.44–47). Therefore, the Appellate Panel properly concluded that the Hearing Commissioner’s above-cited ruling with respect to § 42-9-35 is the law of the case. Atlantic Coast Builders v. Lewis, 398 S.C. 323, 329 (S.C. 2012) (citing Buckner v. Preferred Mut. Ins. Co., 225 S.C. 159 (1970) for the proposition that “an unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case.”). (R. p.25–26; p.27–28 #2).

The Hearing Commissioner also made a specific finding of fact regarding the Appellant’s credibility (or rather, *lack thereof*) regarding this seminal issue under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-35. According to the Hearing Commissioner:

“I do not find [the Appellant’s] testimony to be very credible with regard to the extent of his pre-existing neck condition and his current symptomology.” (R. p.9 #15).

This finding was likewise not appealed and is the law of the case. (R. p.26, p.28 #5).

Because the Appellant failed to meet his burden of proof under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-35 and because an award of benefits under the Act must be necessarily predicated on meeting this statutory burden, the Appellate Panel properly concluded that Commissioner Taylor erred as a matter of law in awarding benefits. Therefore, the Hearing Commissioner’s award of benefits under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-30(21) and § 42-15-60 was reversed and vacated. (R. pp.29–30).

The Appellant makes no argument that he somehow met his burden of proof under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-35, nor does he claim that he preserved any such argument for appeal. Instead, he now argues, for the first time on appeal, that S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-35 was not timely raised. Though specious, the Appellant could have made this argument to the Hearing Commissioner, or perhaps even to the Commission’s Appellate Panel, but he did not raise it at all. Therefore, this argument is not properly before the Court on appeal. *See Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) (“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.”) (internal citation omitted).

IV. The Appellant’s argument regarding the propriety of the Hearing Commissioner’s award under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-30 is not properly before the Court, as the Workers’ Compensation Commission reversed and vacated this award in its final Decision and Order.

The Hearing Commissioner’s award of benefits under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-30 was reversed and vacated by the Commission’s Appellate Panel. (R. p.27, p.30). Because the Appellate Panel is the “ultimate fact finder and is not bound by the single commissioner's findings of fact,” the previous findings of the Hearing Commissioner to the contrary are irrelevant. Ross v. American Red Cross, 298 S.C. 490, 492, 381 S.E.2d 728, 730 (1989). In fact, the reversal of the Hearing Commissioner’s Order leaves it as if it had never been rendered – it is essentially no longer in effect or existence. Moore v. North American Van Lines, 319 S.C. 446, 462 S.E.2d 275 (1995). Furthermore, the only appeal to this Court lies from the Final Decision and Order of the Appellate Panel. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-17-60.

However, even if the Hearing Commissioner’s *vacated* award of benefits under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-30 were properly before the Court of appeal, it is clear that the Hearing Commissioner committed no legal error in considering the fact that the Appellant is currently earning \$102,250.00 per year as the Deputy Director of the Department of Natural Resources and has missed no time from work in denying his claim for permanent and total disability benefits. (R. p.111, lines 16–17, p.9 #13). Specifically, the Hearing Commissioner considered these admitted facts in the context of weighing the credibility of Dr. Bailey’s opinions on impairment, which included the fallacious statement that the Appellant was “unable to return to work.” (R. p.183) According to the Hearing Commissioner:

“Based on [the Appellant’s] return to work and promotions received since his original date of injury, I give Dr. Bailey’s revised Form 14B very little weight due to his opinion that the [Appellant] couldn’t return to his current employment. That opinion is completely disproven by the facts of the case and calls into question the additional information placed in the revised Form 14B.” (R. p.9 #14).

Not only is the Hearing Commissioner’s finding in this regard factually correct and within the Hearing Commissioner’s discretion to weigh and judge the credibility of the evidence, but the Appellant did not appeal this finding. (R. p.41, pp.44-46, pp.60–62). Therefore, right or wrong, it is the law of the case. Buckner v. Preferred Mut. Ins. Co., 225 S.C. 159 (1970).

Conclusion

Based upon the foregoing, the Respondents, the South Carolina Department of Natural Resources and the State Accident Fund, respectfully request that the final Decision and Order of the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Commission be affirmed in its entirety.